UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF MISSISSIPPI

JOHN ROBERT SMITH, SHIRLEY HALL, and GENE WALKER

JACKSON DIVISION FILED

PLAINTIFFS

VS.

CIVIL ACTION NO. 3:01CU855W5

ERIC CLARK, Secretary of State of MISSISSIPPI; MIKE MOORE, Attorney General for the State of Mississippi; RONNIE MUSGROVE, Governor of Mississippi; MISSISSIPPI REPUBLICAN **EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE; and MISSISSIPPI** DEMOCRATIC EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

DEFENDANTS

COMPLAINT

COME NOW the Plaintiffs, John Robert Smith, Shirley Hall, and Gene Walker, and bring this action to enforce voting rights guaranteed to them by the United States Constitution and federal law. The United States Constitution in Article 1, Section 2, requires that a census be undertaken every ten (10) years specifically for the purpose of adjusting the number of congressional seats to which each state is entitled. The recently released census data showing that a decrease in population in Mississippi has required a reduction in the number of congressional districts from five (5) to four (4). The current redistricting plan, which divides the state into five congressional districts, thus, may no longer be enforced under federal law. The State of Mississippi as of the date and time of the filing of this Complain has failed to adopt a new redistricting plan, and any plan subsequently adopted cannot be enforced until it has been approved under § 5 of the Voting Rights Act, 42 U.S.C. § 1973c. The qualifying deadline for candidacy for the United States House of Representatives is March 1, 2002. Any postponement

of that filing date necessitated by the lack of an enforceable redistricting plan would contravene the express directive of the Mississippi Supreme Court, which has held that an election schedule which violates the state election code is adverse to the public interest, and would itself require approval under 42 U.S.C. § 1973c. Therefore, the plaintiffs in this action, as registered voters in the State of Mississippi, are seeking injunctive relief to ensure that the State of Mississippi has a constitutional redistricting plan in place in time to comply with the filing deadline for congressional elections in Mississippi.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

1. This Court has original jurisdiction of this action, and plaintiffs have the right to bring suit under 28 U.S.C. § 1331, which provides:

The district courts shall have original jurisdiction of all civil actions arising under the constitution, laws or treaties of the United States.

- 2. This Court also has jurisdiction over this matter under 28 U.S.C. § 1343(a)(3) and (4), which provides for jurisdiction over the following civil action:
 - (3) To redress the deprivation, under color of any State law, statute, ordinance, regulation, custom or usage, of any right, privilege or immunity secured by the Constitution of the United States or by any Act of Congress providing for equal rights of citizens or of all persons within the jurisdiction of the United States;
 - (4) To recover damages or to secure equitable or other relief under any Act of Congress providing for the protection of civil rights, including the right to vote.
- 3. This case requires convocation of a three-judge federal court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2284, which provides:

- (a) A district court of three judges shall be convened when otherwise required by act of Congress or when an action is filed challenging the constitutionality of the apportionment of congressional districts or the apportionment of any statewide legislative body.
- 4. Venue is proper in this district under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b), which provides as follows:
 - (b) A civil action wherein jurisdiction is not found solely on diversity of citizenship may, except as otherwise provided by law, be brought only in (1) a judicial district where any defendant resides, if all defendants reside in the same state, (2) a judicial district in which a substantial part of the events or omissions giving rise to the claim occurred, or a substantial part of the property that is the subject of the action is situated, or (3) a judicial district in which any defendant may be found, if there is no district in which the action may otherwise be brought.

PARTIES

- 5. The Plaintiffs are JOHN ROBERT SMITH, an adult resident citizen and registered voter of Lauderdale County, Mississippi; SHIRLEY HALL, an adult resident citizen and registered voter of Rankin County, Mississippi; and GENE WALKER, an adult resident citizen and registered voter of Scott County, Mississippi.
- 6. Each of the individually named Defendants is a citizen of the United States of
 America and of the State of Mississippi, and is sued in his or her official capacity. Defendant
 Eric Clark is the Secretary of State of Mississippi. Defendant Mike Moore is the Attorney
 General of Mississippi. Defendant Ronnie Musgrove is the Governor of Mississippi. These
 three defendants compose the State Board of Election Commissioners of the State of Mississippi.

Miss. Code Ann. § 23-15-211(1). As such, they are responsible for implementing and enforcing Mississippi's election laws in general elections.

7. Defendants Mississippi Republican Executive Committee and Mississippi
Democratic Executive Committee are unincorporated associations elected pursuant to the laws of
the State of Mississippi. They are responsible for implementing and enforcing Mississippi's
election laws in primary elections. They are sued in their official capacities.

BASIS OF CLAIMS

- 8. The United States Constitution in Article 1, Section 2, requires that a census be taken every ten (10) years specifically for the purpose of adjusting the number of congressional seats to which each state is entitled.
- 9. Article 1, Section 2 of the United States Constitution, as amended by Section 2 of the Fourteenth Amendment, provides in part that "the House of Representatives shall be composed of members chosen every second year of the people of the several states" and that "representatives shall be apportioned among the several states according to their respective numbers, counting the whole number of persons in each state" U. S. Constitution, Article 1, Section 2; U. S. Constitution, Amend. XIV, Section 2.
- 10. The Secretary of Commerce has reported to the President of the United States the tabulation of population for each of the fifty (50) states, including the State of Mississippi, as determined in the 2000 Decennial Census. Those population figures show Mississippi's total population to have declined since the 1990 Decennial Census.
- 11. As a result of the decrease in population, Mississippi is now allotted only four (4) seats in the U. S. House of Representatives. The enforcement of the current plan, set forth in

Miss Code Ann. § 25-15-1037, by the defendants, acting under color of state law, would deprive plaintiffs of rights secured under the Constitution and law of the United States, in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983.

- 12. It is the duty of the legislature to redraw the districts to reflect this change. The Legislature met in special session on November 1, 2001, to adopt a redistricting plan, but failed to do so.
- 13. Mississippi law requires that qualification of candidates running for Congress in the 2002 elections occur by March 1, 2002. Miss. Code Ann. § 23-15-299. The Mississippi Supreme Court has said that an election schedule which violates the state election code is adverse to the public interest. *Adams County Election Comm'n v. Sanders*, 586 So.2d 829, 832 (Miss. 1991).
- 14. This qualifying deadline, which has been approved pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1973c and cannot be changed without similar approval, is threatened by the fact that the State has not adopted a new redistricting plan. The interest of the plaintiffs and all Mississippi voters are prejudiced unless the State adopts a plan in time for it to be approved pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1973c in advance of the March 1, 2002, qualifying deadline.

NECESSITY OF INJUNCTIVE RELIEF

15. A controversy exists between the parties. Plaintiffs have no adequate remedy at law other than this action for injunctive relief. With the new district boundary lines remaining undetermined at this point, plaintiffs and other voters in Mississippi do not have fair notice of the 2002 district boundary lines. Candidates and their supporters will have insufficient time to prepare, and voters will not be able to consider and compare the various candidates for the full

time approved by law. Therefore, plaintiffs will suffer irreparable injury as a result of the violations complained of, and that injury will continue unless declared unlawful and enjoined by this Court.

WHEREFORE, plaintiffs respectfully pray:

- 1. That this Court assume jurisdiction of this matter and immediately certify a three-judge court, pursuant to the provisions of 28 U.S.C. § 2284, and order a speedy hearing of this cause;
- 2. That this Court enjoin permanently the defendants, their officers, agents, employees, attorneys, servants, successors in office, and all persons in active concert or participation with them from conducting any election using the current districting plan, as codified at Miss Code Ann. §25-15-1037;
- 3. That the Court will find that the proper remedy in this case, pursuant to federal and Mississippi law, is that the congressional representatives will be chosen by the electors of the state-at-large, pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 23-15-1039 and 2 U.S.C.A. § 2a(c)(5).
- 4. In the alternative, should this Court find that the proper remedy is not an at-large election under 2 U.S.C.A. § 2a(c)(5) and Miss. Code Ann. § 23-15-1039, that the Court devise a new, constitutional districting plan;
- 5. That this Court expedite consideration of this matter and impose a remedy early enough so that the qualifying deadline of March 1, 2002, would not be postponed;
- 6. That this Court, award plaintiffs their reasonable attorneys fees and expenses pursuant to the Civil Rights Attorneys Fees Act, 42 U.S.C. § 1988; and

7. That the Court retain jurisdiction of this action and grant plaintiffs such other and further necessary or proper relief which may in the discretion of this Court be appropriate and equitable.

Respectfully submitted,

JOHN ROBERT SMITH, SHIRLEY HALL, and GENE WALKER

BY:

ARTHUR F

ARTHUR F. JERNIGAN, JR. (MSB #3092) WATSON & JERNIGAN, P.A. MIRROR LAKE PLAZA, STE. 1502 2829 LAKELAND DRIVE P. O. Box 23546 JACKSON, MS 39225-3546

TELEPHONE: (601) 939-8900 FACSIMILE: (601) 932-4400